The Class of 1964 Policy Research Shop

PUBLIC HEALTH STAKEHOLDERS IN NEW HAMPSHIRE

Mitigating Food Insecurity Among Diabetic Patients in Manchester, New Hampshire

Presented to Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center: Population Health and the Foundation for Healthy Communities

PRS Policy Brief 1920-12 June 21, 2020 Prepared By:

> Sunny Drescher Jacob Zarkower Alice Zhang

This report was written by undergraduate students at Dartmouth College under the direction of professors in the Rockefeller Center. Policy Research Shop (PRS) students produce non-partisan policy analyses and present their findings in a non-advocacy manner. The PRS is fully endowed by the Dartmouth Class of 1964 through a class gift in celebration of its 50th Anniversary given to the Center. This endowment ensures that the Policy Research Shop will continue to produce high-quality, non-partisan policy research for policymakers in New Hampshire and Vermont. The PRS was previously funded by major grants from the U.S. Department of Education, Fund for the Improvement of Post-Secondary Education (FIPSE) and from the Ford Foundation and by initial seed grants from the Surdna Foundation, the Lintilhac Foundation, and the Ford Motor Company Fund. Since its inception in 2005, PRS students have invested more than 70,000 hours to produce more than 200 policy briefs for policymakers in New Hampshire and Vermont.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. POPULATION HEALTH STAKEHOLDERS	1
2.1 GOVERNMENT INVOLVEMENT	2
2.1.1 The City of Manchester	3
2.1.2 Government and Corner Stores Partnership	4
2.2 HEALTH CARE INVOLVEMENT	4
2.2.1 Geisinger: Fresh Food Farmacy	5
2.2.2 Kaiser Permanente Colorado: Resource Referral Program	6
2.2.3 Kaiser Permanente: Mom's Meals Partnership	8
2.2.4 Catholic Medical Center: Diabetes Resource Institute	8
2.2.5 Elliot Hospital: The Elliot Center for Diabetes Management	9
2.3 BANK INVOLVEMENT: COMMUNITY REINVESTMENT ACT	10
2.4 NONPROFIT INVOLVEMENT	11
2.4.1 Food Trust	11
2.4.2 Wholesome Wave	13
2.4.3 New Hampshire Food Bank	14
2.4.4 D.C. Central Kitchen: Healthy Corners	14
3. CONCLUSION	14
REFERENCES	16
APPENDIX A	20
APPENDIX B	21

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report reviews the roles of governments, hospitals, financial institutions, and nonprofit organizations in alleviating food insecurity. The purpose of this report is to provide information to help the Population Health team at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and the Foundation for Healthy Communities to make informed decisions regarding mitigating the food desert in Manchester, New Hampshire. To gather information and provide potential mitigation efforts, the research team also initiated contact with key partners. The research team includes a list of public health grants awarded to organizations in the City of Manchester and across New Hampshire for use in the event a new program is implemented and requires funding.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center in the Manchester/Bedford region has identified a food desert in Manchester, NH, as evidenced by high rates of chronic diseases related to poor diet. In this paper, we generally define a food desert as an area which has unreliable access to healthy and affordable foods, including fresh produce. Though there are other ways to address these negative health-related outcomes, many, including representatives from the organization Healthy New Hampshire, identified food deserts as low-hanging fruit in addressing these issues.¹

Historically, the main way that many have addressed food deserts is by introducing a supermarket in the area, because supermarkets generally carry more nutrient dense foods relative to corner stores, as evidenced by the higher obesity rates found in communities near corner stores relative to supermarkets.^{2,3} However, many are finding that to be an inadequate solution, and instead are focusing on a variety of different factors to help resolve the issue including food education and finding creative ways to bring fresh produce into food deserts.⁴ Throughout this paper, we will be outlining different ways in which governments, healthcare systems and providers, banks, and nonprofits have and can address the food desert in Manchester. We will also be providing contacts for those who may be able to aid in this endeavor.

2. POPULATION HEALTH STAKEHOLDERS

In this section, we describe the roles of various stakeholders in mitigating food insecurity in Manchester, New Hampshire. This section outlines the role of each group, potential programs to be implemented by Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, and contacts made by our team.

2.1 Government Involvement

Federal and local governments both have a part to play when it comes to mitigating the effects of food deserts. To date, more than 130 cities and counties in the United States and Canada have local food policy councils to improve food production and consumption. ⁵ Because different localities have different issues that cause food insecurity, local governments are uniquely suited to intervene because they are able to interact closely with constituents and are able to define the local food desert in a unique and applicable way. ⁶ In contrast, the federal government is more ill-suited to resolving these problems. ⁷

First, local governments are better suited to identifying food deserts. The USDA defines a Census tract as a food desert if it meets the following criteria:

"Census tracts qualify as food deserts if they meet low-income and low-access thresholds:

- Low-income: a poverty rate of 20 percent or greater, or a median family income at or below 80 percent of the statewide or metropolitan area median family income;
- Low-access: at least 500 persons and/or at least 33 percent of the population lives more than one mile from a supermarket or large grocery store (10 miles, in the case of rural census tracts)." 8

However, this definition can often be too general to accurately define all food deserts. Many areas, for instance, may lack adequate infrastructure to facilitate access to a supermarket or large grocery store, including a lack of public transportation or inaccessibility due to seasonal changes. Thus, local governments are better suited to understand the factors underlying food deserts, based on their own conditions.

Further, local governments may be better able to identify and resolve the issues by learning from and working with local communities. One way that local governments may be able to do this is by conducting a community food system assessment, as outlined by the American Planning Association (APA). First, in forming an assessment team, the APA recommends that individuals come from different parts of the food industry and bring unique perspectives to the table, and that these individuals begin by discussing and agreeing upon the definition of a food system. ⁹ Second, the APA recommends that the team define the scope of the assessment by asking question such as:

- What are the community issues or priorities the assessment will address?
- What are the boundaries of the assessment community? Is the focus on a neighborhood?
- What resources are available to conduct the assessment? 10

In addition, the team should collect data and get community input through community events, surveys, and walking audits. ¹¹ Finally, the team should complete the assessment and make policy recommendations accordingly. ¹² More detailed information may be found in the APA's Planning Advisory Service Memo on Community Food System Assessments.

Some methods to mitigate food deserts are increasing the number of vendors in the area, reducing transportation barriers, increasing local food production, and increasing consumption. Local municipalities have incentivized an influx of vendors including financial and zoning incentives, mobile food markets and farmers markets. In 2019, for instance, New Orleans implemented new rules to limit the spread of discount stores, which traditional grocery stores have struggled to compete with. Specifically, they prohibited discount chains to open stores within a two-mile radius of an existing discount store in specific parts of the city. Additionally, a study in 2018 concluded that public transit systems had the potential to improve food access within a case study region by 23 percent. Louisville, Kentucky recently developed an urban farm in a high-poverty neighborhood. This urban farm is teaming with the Food Literacy Project as a part of a community-wide effort to improve food access in local communities and promote healthy eating.

2.1.1 The City of Manchester

Manchester has a population of roughly 110,000 with a 15 percent poverty rate, which is four percent higher than the average across the United States. ¹⁷ It is predominantly white. ¹⁸ According to a survey conducted by the New Hampshire Economic and Labor Market Information Bureau, 79.1 percent of workers drive to work alone, with 11.7 percent carpooling, indicating that a majority of Manchester residents who work have access to a car. ¹⁹ Thus, the target population who suffer from food insecurity are those who are not employed, along with the 5.8 percent of the working population who use other means to commute to work and part of the 3.5 percent who work from home.

The City of Manchester is already implementing many initiatives that may help in mitigating food deserts. Since 2009, the city has made improvements in accessibility by adding bike lanes, notably on Elm Street and off into its surrounding neighborhoods, and are additionally starting pilot programs to create new bike lanes in the other parts of the city, observing changes in traffic patterns and ensuring safety.²⁰ They have additionally worked toward improving sidewalks and increasing lighting to encourage walking, and are considering implementing a rail system in the future. Furthermore, the Manchester Transit Authority hosts direct lines to grocery stores, called "Shopper Shuttles," to grocery stores including the Hooksett and Elm Street Market Baskets, and the Bedford and East Side Plaza Hannafords.²¹

In addition, the city hosts a farmers market on Thursdays throughout the late spring and summer, where farmers from outside the city come and sell their products. ²² Mobile food markets, like the one run by the Organization for Refugee and Immigrant Success, and community gardens are also present in Manchester. ²³

Despite these strides, the Manchester Planning Committee is continuing to make more advancements in securing accessibility throughout the city.²⁴ However, they are not prioritizing food desert mitigation as part of their Master Plan, because they have not deemed it to be a pressing issue based on the testimony of their constituents.²⁵

2.1.2 Government and Corner Store Partnership

The United States Department of Agriculture defines a food desert as any census tract that meets both of the following criteria: the tract has a poverty rate at or above 20 percent and 500 people or 33 percent of the tract lives more than one mile from a supermarket or large grocery store. ²⁶

As stated, 77.4 percent of Manchester residents live more than half a mile from a supermarket. ²⁷ Research shows that while opening a supermarket in a food desert will remedy the issue of distance to healthy food, this will not change purchasing patterns. ²⁸ Healthy food is often expensive. ²⁹ In order to improve the diets of diabetic patients, healthy food must be both more readily available and less expensive.

The New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services oversees the "Double Up Food Bucks" program. SNAP participants can receive 50 percent off on fruits and vegetables from participating supermarkets, farmers markets, mobile markets and farm stands.³⁰ Out of the over 50 participants in New Hampshire, only one is located in Manchester: the Manchester Community Market, which we have previously mentioned.³¹

There are few supermarkets in Manchester; however, there are over a dozen corner stores.³² If decided upon, DHMC could follow the screening and referral model used by Kaiser Permanente Colorado (discussed later in the report) to increase SNAP enrollment among qualified diabetic patients. They would then have to work with the Department of Health and Human Services to expand the Double Up Food Bucks program to Manchester corner stores.

2.2 Health Care Involvement

This subsection summarizes and outlines programs to be considered for implementation by DHMC. Possible programs include targeted food insecurity and SNAP screening,

comprehensive diabetic management education, and referral and connection of patients to healthy food resources. Implementation of these types of programs, to any extent, will be beneficial to patients. The Geisinger "Fresh Food Farmacy" utilizes all of these tools minus SNAP screening. The following section offers an example for each tool.

2.2.1 Geisinger: Fresh Food Farmacy

One program option for implementation in Manchester is the "Fresh Food Farmacy." This program was started in 2016 by Geisinger Medical Group and has since improved the health of their diabetic patients.³³

The first component of the program is screening for food insecurity. Geisinger uses the following two questions to accomplish this task:

- 1. "Within the last 12 months have you run out of food and not had the money to buy more?
- 2. "Within the last 12 months have you worried about running out of food and not having the money to buy more?

If a patient responds "yes" to one of the two questions, they are considered food insecure and meet the food insecurity requirement for program enrollment.³⁴ The patient must also have a HbA1c of greater than 8, in order to be referred by their primary care physician for enrollment.

Once enrolled, a patient will receive "care management, diabetes education and consultations with...dietitians and pharmacists." The patient will receive at least 20 hours of diabetes education, nutritional information and a "welcoming kit" with measuring cups and spoons, and recipes. Patients will receive healthy food from the Farmacy, twice a day for five days per week. The Farmacy will provide meals for both the patients and their household. Patients will be offered additional, free, interactive nutrition and wellness education from dietitians and health coaches. Participants are also offered grocery store tours and cooking demonstrations.³⁵

On average, since the program was implemented, patients saw a 2-point drop in HbA1c, in addition to lower weight, blood pressure, triglycerides and cholesterol. This program lowers cardiac risk factors.³⁶ Data from one Farmacy location shows a 27 percent decrease in emergency room usage, a 70 percent decrease in hospital readmission rate, and a 16 percent increase in patients receiving eye exams. Patients also were more likely to utilize preventative care services such as mammograms and colonoscopies.³⁷ Patients, combined, saved roughly \$1.5 million in health-care costs.³⁸ For every one point of HbA1c reduction, a patient will save \$8,000 to \$12,000.³⁹

The Geisinger Fresh Food Farmacy currently has three locations in Pennsylvania: Shamokin, Scranton and Lewistown. Shamokin and Lewiston are rural locations, while Scranton is an urban one. There are currently approximately two hundred patients enrolled across the three locations.⁴⁰

Most of the food is purchased from food banks in Pennsylvania including the Central Pennsylvania Food Bank and the CEO Weinberg Regional Food Bank.⁴¹ The program is primarily funded through grants and donations. At the end of this report, there is a list of foundations who have funded population health-related projects in New Hampshire.

The research team has been in contact with Alicia Trelease. In her last correspondence Alicia copied Breanna Grzech, the associate project manager. The next steps in implementing this program, if decided upon, would be to schedule a call with Breanna in order to discuss potential interest in purchasing the guide for starting a Fresh Food Farmacy program in Manchester.

2.2.2 Kaiser Permanente Colorado: Resource Referral Program

Kaiser Permanente in Colorado utilizes a food insecurity screening and referral program to "alleviate food insecurity and improve dietary quality." Dr. Sandra Hoyt Stenmark and colleagues produced an article describing barriers and lessons learned from implementation of this program in two pediatric clinics.⁴²

The first component of the program is screening for food insecurity. Kaiser Permanente in Colorado uses the Hunger Vital Sign tool. Kaiser uses the following two statements:

- 1. Within the past 12 months, we worried whether our food would run out before we got money to buy more.
- 2. Within the past 12 months, the food we bought just didn't last, and we didn't have money to get more. 43

Patients have the option of circling "often true, sometimes true, or never true." An answer of "sometimes true" for either answer indicates food insecurity.

Their research team observed initial problems. Clinical teams were unaware of the prevalence of food insecurity in their patient population. Clinical teams were unaware of SNAP and WIC nutrition programs available to patients. They were also uncomfortable discussing food insecurity with their patients "for fear it would feel stigmatizing to parents or raise parental concerns about being reported to social services." In order to combat these concerns, the research team produced an educational handout for staff. This handout included information on the "prevalence of food insecurity in households with children in

Colorado", "support provided by WIC and SNAP", the previously stated screening questions, and the referral process.⁴⁴

The second component of the program was the referral process. The Kaiser Permanente team used an active referral process, after they saw a passive one was ineffective. In the active model, medical staff asked parents and patients for permission to have a Hunger Free Colorado representative call them to discuss food resources. The organization provides a toll-free hotline that assesses residents for eligibility to federal nutrition assistance programs. HFC will submit SNAP applications for residents and "direct clients to other federal programs." They will also connect clients to local food pantries. Medical staff provide patients with a HIPAA consent form during this process. In the active model, 75 percent of parents spoke with an HFC hotline representative. In the passive model, where parents were given the phone number of the hotline and instructed to call, just five percent of parents contacted the HFC hotline.

If the DHMC team elects to establish a referral program for patients to food banks, pantries or other resources, it must be done using an active model.

One additional barrier encountered by the Kaiser Permanente team was that it was time consuming for clinical teams to print and hand-fax referrals to HFC. In response, the research team helped establish a specialist team (funded through Kaiser Permanente primary care and community benefits) that would receive electronic referrals from the clinical team. The specialist team assesses patient needs and connects them with social resources such as food sources and is in charge of faxing the patient referrals to HFC.⁴⁸

In 2017, 1,586 patients were referred to the HFC.⁴⁹ Eighty percent of these patients agreed to receiving food related services. Of the 561 households potentially eligible for SNAP that were not previously enrolled, 100 households enrolled in SNAP.⁵⁰ This amounted to six percent of referred patients.⁵¹ If the DHMC team elects to establish a referral program for patients, they cannot solely refer patients to federal programs due to low enrollment rates.

In order to better utilize screening and referral tools, Kaiser Permanente Colorado adopted a targeted screening process. Any Medicaid beneficiaries at KPCO were asked about enrollment in SNAP or WIC in addition to other related programs instead of for food insecurity.

2.2.3 Kaiser Permanente: Mom's Meals Partnership

Kaiser Permanente partners with "Mom's Meals" to provide healthy food to patients at low-cost. Mom's Meals delivers fresh prepared meals to participants in all 50 states including New Hampshire. Their kitchens are USDA-inspected. All food is transported in specially designed containers to keep food fresh for up to two weeks after delivery in a refrigerator.⁵² One food packet with two snacks costs \$5.98 for participants.⁵³ Individual meals can cost up to \$7.00.⁵⁴ The meal plans offered by Mom's Meals are designed by dietitians and professional chefs. These plans can be tailored to patients with cancer, heart disease, kidney disease, and/or diabetes.⁵⁵

Kaiser Permanente established a program for their patients with Medicare coverage. If decided upon, DHMC would contact Mom's Meals in order to create a streamlined system for diabetic patients to receive low-cost meals. Patients can use this resource without the intervention of DHMC; however, the benefit of the hospital getting involved would be to find a way to have insurers potentially cover meals. If DHMC chooses, they could incorporate this program into a screening and referral program. This would be one resource option presented to patients who indicate food insecurity. As stated in the previous section, an active approach would increase program usage. Our research team has not communicated with representatives at Mom's Meals.

2.2.4 Catholic Medical Center: Diabetes Resource Institute

The Catholic Medical Center, Elliot Hospital Dartmouth Hitchcock Children's Hospital, and The Department of Veterans Affairs Manchester Medical Center are located in the City of Manchester.

Catholic Medical Center operates a "Diabetes Resource Institute." Certified diabetes educators provide group and individual education sessions. Patients are referred by their primary care physician; they are provided self-management education. Patients learn to manage daily nutrition, exercise and medication. They learn how to manage diabetic emergencies and "whom to call." ⁵⁶

The Diabetes Resource Institute facilitates support groups. Group sessions cover the following topics. This list was taken directly from the Catholic Medical Center website:

- Medications
- Blood glucose self-monitoring
- Insulin pump training
- Pattern control of blood glucose levels
- Treating high and low blood glucose



- Nutrition and exercise
- Foot care assessment and education
- Avoiding or coping with diabetes complications
- Diabetes management during vacation or travel
- Diabetes management during brief illnesses
- Use of the health care system and community resources
- Family adjustments
- Psychological adjustments
- Preventing complications of diabetes ⁵⁷

Catholic Medical Center sends out a newsletter to patients. In it, CMC connects patients to resources that "promote healthy living and diabetes management." If decided upon, DHMC would reach out to CMC to discuss the contents and frequency of the newsletters. Outcomes and effects of the individual and group sessions and the newsletter are not publicly available. If decided upon, DHMC could attempt to learn this information from the Catholic Medical Center.

2.2.5 Elliot Hospital: The Elliot Center for Diabetes Management

The Elliot Hospital operates "The Elliot Center for Diabetes Management." The Center offers patients educational programs such as: "weight management, heart healthy eating, healing metabolic syndrome, and supermarket nutrition coordinators." ⁵⁸ The Center offers Diabetes Self-Management Education programs to patients and their families. They offer individual consultations as well as a set of four group sessions held monthly. The group education program is nine hours in total and covers all self-management related topics. The four sessions listed on their brochure are: 1) Facts about Diabetes for Better Management, 2) Eating Healthy with Diabetes, 3) Understanding Physical Activity, Stress and Illness, and 4) Understanding the ABCs of Diabetes and your Lab Results. Additional details are listed on the website of the Center. ⁵⁹

In June of 2019, a Community Health Needs Assessment was conducted on the City of Manchester. The Elliot Hospital posted this assessment on its website. Our research team identified two notable findings: 1) 24.6 percent of Manchester residents are physically inactive: census tract regions 14,15 and 20 in Manchester had physical inactivity rates greater than 35 percent (the average urban inactivity rate is 24 percent of the population); and 2) 77.4 percent of Manchester residents lack access to healthy food (living more than half a mile from a supermarket); the average rate across 500 U.S. cities is 61.9 percent⁶⁰

2.3 Bank Involvement: Community Reinvestment Act

Banks are additional possible partners for DHMC to work with in addressing the food desert in Manchester, namely through helping finance strategies to mitigate food insecurity. Banks and nonprofit hospitals, while they largely operate independently of one another, often have similar goals with respect to complying with the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) and the Affordable Care Act (ACA), respectively. Enacted in 1977, the CRA established that banks would be evaluated by examiners to determine whether banks were meeting the credit needs of the communities in which they were located. Large and small banks are assessed with slightly different criteria, but these evaluations are broadly based on the efficacy and engagement of banks within their geographic assessment area and their responsiveness to community development needs. The ACA requires that nonprofit hospitals conduct a Community Health Needs Assessment (CHNA) every three years to continue holding their nonprofit status. In short, the hospitals' assessments need to define the communities within which the hospitals serve and assess the health needs of that community.

According to Steven Kuehl at the Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, the requirements imposed on banks and nonprofit hospitals are incidentally quite similar and present an opportunity for collaboration. Kuehl writes that "the CHNA requirement under the ACA and the assessment framework applied by the CRA bear remarkable similarities that, if leveraged appropriately, hold the potential to underpin strategic, mutually beneficial partnerships that are both compliant with applicable regulations and create local economic impact." Examples of partnerships could include credit lines that bridge the gap between provision of care and federal or state reimbursement or financing facility renovations and other improvements.⁶⁷

Kuehl identifies several specific examples of banks contributing to health services in meeting their CRA obligations. Bank of Springfield in Springfield, Illinois originated a \$1 million line of credit to a nonprofit that "operates food pantries, provides crisis assistance, and operates a health clinic for the needy." MainSource Bank in Greensburg, Indiana provided a loan of \$1,119,000 to finance a building in which mental health services and childcare for low- and middle-income individuals. Republic Bank and Trust in Louisville, Kentucky supported economic development in its service area by funding renovations to a community hospital "in a moderate-income census tract, which created employment opportunities for local residents."

However, in New Hampshire, few if any banks proximal to the Manchester area incorporate health services activities into their community development practices. Fleet Bank in Manchester received an overall rating of Satisfactory and was last evaluated in

April 1998 by the Federal Reserve. Fleet Bank's evaluation report suggests that this bank pursues community investment practices primarily with respect to supporting affordable housing projects. Two banks in Manchester, Citizens Bank New Hampshire and Hampshire First Bank, are supervised by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and these two institutions have Outstanding and Satisfactory CRA ratings, respectively. These banks under FDIC supervision also have focused much of their community development efforts on affordable housing, per their 2002 and 2011 CRA evaluations, for Citizens Bank New Hampshire and Hampshire First Bank, respectively. Other banks in New Hampshire have invested in small businesses in various capacities, but investing in health-related services has been an under-utilized option.

While working with community banks has the potential to be an important tool for the Population Health team to consider, thinking about how to finance health-related services is likely a secondary step after identifying the proper strategy to pursue. As such, the next section details some possible future partners in the nonprofit sector to help pursue next steps for identifying how the Population Health team wants to proceed and subsequently implementing those strategies.

2.4 Nonprofit Involvement

Several nonprofit organizations stand out as possible partners for the Population Health team to work with as it goes about addressing the Manchester food desert. In this section, we describe their work and provide a few potential contacts for moving forward with future research and implementation of possible mitigation strategies.

While in this report we have aimed to provide the DHMC Population Health team with an overview of the various stakeholders that can and potentially should be involved in addressing the food desert problem in Manchester, we were unable to conduct on the ground research or offer comprehensive policy recommendations. As such, the DHMC Population Health team may want to reach out to and or enlist the support of some of these stakeholders to engage with groups that have on the ground experience identifying and mitigating problems that inspire and exacerbate the food desert situation in Manchester.

2.4.1 Food Trust

Contact: Bridget Palombo, Senior Associate, Community Food Retail

Based in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, The Food Trust is a nonprofit organization that works to improve food access and education around nutrition throughout the country. The organization partners with neighborhoods, schools, grocers, farmers, policymakers, and

health care providers to help these various entities achieve their goals in reducing food insecurity and improving access to nutritious food and nutrition-related education. ⁷⁶

With respect to their health care-related partnerships, The Food Trust works with hospitals, health care systems, medical students, and others to link healthcare practitioners and institutions with public health. One primary example of this connection is free health screenings in food retail settings, such as corner stores, farmers markets, and groceries. These screenings may also be accompanied with workshops or other educational opportunities geared towards helping community members develop a greater understanding of their nutritional needs. These connections between health care providers, such as DHMC, and community food sellers and retail spaces offer another possible avenue for mitigating food deserts in Manchester.

Karen Shore, former director of The Food Trust who oversaw the nonprofit for seven years, identified several important points for addressing food insecurity in populations like that which DHMC hopes to target in Manchester. Her work at The Food Trust focused primarily on including food sellers in the solution to addressing food insecurity, and she has subsequently founded a small consultancy to continue similar work. 80

Understand the different and interrelated community contexts specific to the area you are trying to help. Work with what members of the community want or could use, rather than strictly what an outsider would identify as a solution. For example, it is important to recognize how community members engage with their local food sellers. Shore noted that in a diverse area such as Manchester, some food sellers might be perceived as cleaner or safer than others, e.g., one convenience store among others, for reasons including store location, products sold, consumer biases, and more. Solely increasing the amount of fresh food being sold in a convenience store may not sufficiently increase community members' consumption of fresh food without understanding the utility and value community members perceive various food sellers to have.

Consider what is currently offered inside the community and inside the stores selling food. Shore highlighted the importance of understanding what products were being sold already and where they were being sold before creating and trying to implement a plan. Important questions to consider in this vein include:

- What do potential food sellers currently have in terms of food items they sell?
- What food items are lacking from the consumers' diets that need to be supported (e.g., produce, eggs, meat)?
- Do food sellers have the capacity to purchase the relevant food items from local or regional food distributors? If not, how can they obtain this capability?

If the store *does* have access to fresh produce or other nutritious foods, Shore noted that it is important to consider how these food items are marketed. A lot of research has focused on marketing junk food products, such as Frito-Lay and Coca Cola products, but nutritious foods do not have the same corporate power behind them. To the extent that food sellers are able to access fresh and nutritious food products, some consideration ought to be given towards how these products are displayed in the store.

Trying to ameliorate problems relating to food insecurity from an outsider's perspective requires you to bridge the gap between what the community wants, what the community needs, and how it can be made possible. Based on her experience thinking about and addressing these types of problems, Shore noted that outside forces trying to solve food insecurity problems typically focus on identifying and meeting a primary need. This need could be public transportation for people to be able to make it to grocery stores; education about nutritious food; lack of nutritious food being sold by nearby food sellers; or other needs. However, Shore cautioned that this removes a lot of important community context. To successfully and sustainably address problems around access to and consumption of nutritious food, Shore emphasized the need to make the community part of the conversation to better understand existing infrastructure, preferences, and practices.

2.4.2 Wholesome Wave

Unable to provide a contact

Wholesome Wave is a national nonprofit organization that focuses on providing access to affordable produce for low-income Americans. We were unable to speak with Wholesome Wave due to difficulty contacting their organization during the coronavirus pandemic. Furthermore, many of the public resources that Wholesome Wave makes available to the public are not currently publicly accessible due to their website being under construction. However, we were able to obtain a white paper the organization put out with the support of The Food Trust in 2014. This paper detailed recommendations for adopting a "hub and spoke" model for distributing nutritious food items throughout the state with concurrent application of a nutrition incentive program for SNAP recipients at local, rural convenience stores. For this study, Wholesome Wave conducted interviews with community partners who worked with SNAP recipients; food retailers; and local food producers and distributors. As such, Wholesome Wave has experience working with onthe-ground stakeholders and communities and has the potential to be a valuable ally for the DHMC Population Health team in tackling the food deserts in Manchester.

2.4.3 New Hampshire Food Bank

Contact: Nancy Mellitt, Director of Development

The New Hampshire Food Bank helps provide food and resources to hundreds of thousands of food insecure people in New Hampshire. Working with over 425 partner agencies to help distribute food and provisions, the New Hampshire Food Bank is at the forefront of mitigating need related to food insecurity in the state. We were unable to speak with a representative from the New Hampshire Food Bank, in part because of their efforts being almost solely focused on meeting need caused by the coronavirus pandemic, but the Director of Development, Nancy Mellitt, expressed interest in this project via email. The New Hampshire Food Bank was identified as a possible "hub" by Wholesome Wave in the "hub and spoke" model they proposed to help distribute fresh produce to food sellers across the state, and it may be a valuable partner in various possible strategies that DHMC may want to pursue.

2.4.4 D.C. Central Kitchen: Healthy Corners

In Washington, D.C., the non-profit "D.C. Central Kitchen" provides low cost, healthy food to corner stores in D.C. They deliver and sell fresh produce to corner stores at wholesale prices and in small quantities. This allows the corner stores to sell the produce to consumers at more affordable prices. D.C. Central Kitchen receives funding through philanthropy and through funding from the D.C. Department of Health.⁸³ If decided upon, DHMC could work with one of the previously listed nonprofit partners to establish a similar system. D.C. Central Kitchen welcomes organizations to use their model and implementation details can be found through subscription at the following link: https://dccentralkitchen.org/healthy-corners/

3. CONCLUSION

In this report, we have aggregated and analyzed possible solutions and partners for the DHMC Population Health team to tackle food deserts in Manchester. The Manchester local government has not specifically addressed food desert in the city. As such, the Population Health team may want to alert the government about its concerns and possible plans going forward so that both parties are on the same page and to possibly encourage collaboration. The health care systems described above, and Geisinger in particular, have the potential to serve as a model with respect to the Fresh Food Pharmacy route. We included some information about a possible partnership between DHMC and local banks to help finance food desert mitigation strategies once a course of action has been determined. Furthermore,

we have included a list of foundations (see Appendix) that could also help finance programs or future endeavors to improve access to nutrition in Manchester. Finally, the nonprofit organizations described at the end of this brief may be useful partners if the Population Health team chooses to work more with local food sellers and convenience stores in the area (several of whom we tried to reach via telephone but were unable to do so) to identify more specifically whether the food desert arises from a problem with supply or demand and procure a longer-term solution.

Our overall assessment of these stakeholders can be broken into two primary paths for the DHMC Population Health team to choose between. The first path involves pursuing a Fresh Food Farmacy that would build on the contact between the diabetic population that the team seems primarily concerned about and the health care providers. If the Population Health team aims to ameliorate the food desert among the population that DHMC is already in contact with, e.g., the diabetic population with whom DHMC already works, pursuing implementing a Fresh Food Farmacy or similar program might be most effective. The second path involves further research in the Manchester community to pursue a strategy or strategies that involve community partners (e.g., local government, food sellers, etc.). If the team aims to ameliorate the food desert in Manchester more broadly, i.e., not just among people who are DHMC patients, the team might want to consider working with nonprofits or other community partners in Manchester to create a more independently sustainable and long-term strategy. There are variations, of course, that could be pursued with respect to either strategy, but we find that these two paths reflect the main options for the Population Health team to initially consider going forward.

In sum, we hope that this report provides some clarity for the Population Health team on possible options and partners for pursuing food desert mitigation strategies going forward.

REFERENCES

- 1. Interview with Beth Wheeler, Director, Population Health, Foundation for Healthy Communities.
- 2. Katie Pyzyk. "Mitigating America's food desert dilemma." *Smart Cities Dive*. May 7, 2019. https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/mitigating-americas-food-desert-dilemma/554087/
- 3. Elizabeth Bastian, and Jacob Napieralski. "Suburban Food Security: Walkability and Nutritional Access in Metropolitan Detroit." *The Professional Geographer*, 68:3, 462-474, (2016). DOI: 10.1080/00330124.2015.1099447
- 4. Katie Pyzyk. "Mitigating America's food desert dilemma." *Smart Cities Dive*. May 7, 2019. https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/mitigating-americas-food-desert-dilemma/554087/
- 5. Emily M. Broad Leib. "All (Food) Politics is Local: Increasing Food Access through Local Government Action." 7 Harv. L. & Pol'y Rev. 321 (2013). http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:11189975
- 6. Ibid.
- 7. Ibid.
- 8. Michele Ver Ploeg, David Nulph, and Ryan Williams. "Mapping Food Deserts in the United States." *United States Department of Agriculture: Economic Research Service*. December 1, 2011. https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2011/december/data-feature-mapping-food-deserts-in-the-us/
- 9. Kara Martin, and Tammy Morales. "Community Food System Assessments." *American Planning Association: PAS Memo*. November/December 2015. http://planning-org-uploaded-media.s3.amazonaws.com/document/PASMEMO-2015-11-12.pdf
- 10. Ibid.
- 11. Ibid.
- 12. Ibid.
- 13. Ibid.
- 14. Jessica Williams. "New Orleans City Council OK's restrictions on new dollar stores." NOLA. October 18, 2019. https://www.nola.com/news/politics/article_df884c88-f1ea-11e9-b3e4-9b72972da08c.html
- Kelsey C. Abel and Kasey M. Faust. "Modeling Food Desert Disruptors: Impact of Public Transit Systems on Food Access." ASCE Library: Construction Research Congress 2018. 2018. https://ascelibrary.org/doi/10.1061/9780784481295.037
- 16. Bailey Loosemore. "How a low-income Louisville neighborhood became a fresh food oasis." *Courier Journal*. January 10, 2019. https://www.courier-journal.com/story/news/local/2019/01/10/food-deserts-louisville-neighborhood-became-fresh-food-oasis/2523711002/
- 17. "Manchester city, New Hampshire." *United States Census Bureau: QuickFacts*. April 1, 2010. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/manchestercitynewhampshire
- 18. Ibid.
- 19. "Manchester, NH." *New Hampshire Employment Security: Community Profiles*. August 2019. https://www.nhes.nh.gov/elmi/products/cp/profiles-htm/manchester.htm.
- 20. "Master Plan for the City of Manchester, New Hampshire." *Manchester Planning & Community Development Department: Manchester Planning Board*. 2009. https://www.manchesternh.gov/pcd/cip/MasterPlan.pdf

The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College



The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

- 21. "Shopper Shuttles." *Manchester Transit Authority*. 2018. https://mtabus.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ShopperShuttleFlyer2018.pdf
- 22. Interview with Jodie Nazaka.
- 23. Ibid.
- 24. Ibid.
- 25. Ibid.
- 26. Michele Ver Ploeg, David Nulph, and Ryan Williams. "Mapping Food Deserts in the United States." *United States Department of Agriculture: Economic Research Service*. December 1, 2011. https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2011/december/data-feature-mapping-food-deserts-in-the-us/
- 27. "Assessing Manchester's Urban Advantage: Greater Manchester Community Health Needs Assessment." *City of Manchester Health Department*. June 2019. https://www.elliothospital.org/website/downloads/Manchester-Report-Final-compressed.pdf
- 28. Mark Harris. "Seattle's Unhealthiest Neighborhoods Dubbed Food Deserts." *Seattle Magazine*. December 2011. https://www.seattlemag.com/article/seattles-unhealthiest-neighborhoods-dubbed-food-deserts
- 29. "Adding Grocery Stores Won't Fix Food Deserts." *NACS*. May 11, 2015. https://www.convenience.org/Media/Daily/ND0511151
- 30. "SNAP Program." *New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services*. 2020. https://www.dhhs.nh.gov/dfa/foodstamps/index.htm
- 31. "Participating Locations." *Granite State Market Match*. 2020. http://granitestatemarketmatch.org/locations/
- 32. "Manchester Corner Stores NH." Google Search. 2020.
 - https://www.google.com/search?client=safari&rls=en&sxsrf=ALeKk01Pw0bQYtOIRA5Ik9ZAT9 S71PqGg:1592612939544&q=manchester+corner+stores+nh&npsic=0&rflfq=1&rlha=0&rllag=42984148,-
 - 71438113,2178&tbm=lcl&ved=2ahUKEwiap5rEkY_qAhWRmnIEHQDeAVcQjGp6BAgLEC8&rldoc=1#rlfi=hd:;si:;mv:%5B%5B43.000193700000004,-
 - 71.4086739%5D,%5B42.939691800000006,-
 - 71.4966644%5D%5D;tbs:lrf:!1m4!1u3!2m2!3m1!1e1!2m1!1e3!3sIAE,lf:1,lf_ui:3
- 33. "Learn more." *Geisinger Health: Fresh Food Farmacy*. 2020. https://www.geisinger.org/freshfoodfarmacy/learn-more
- 34. Email correspondence with Alicia Trelease (Beachy). Innovations Program Manager, Fresh Food Farmacy.
- 35. "Learn more." *Geisinger Health: Fresh Food Farmacy*. 2020. https://www.geisinger.org/freshfoodfarmacy/learn-more
- 36. Matthew Van Stone. "Geisinger's Fresh Food Farmacy receives Healthy Living Award: Award highlights food as medicine approach to diabetes health." *Geisinger Health*. May 24, 2019. https://www.geisinger.org/about-geisinger/news-and-media/news-releases/2019/05/29/19/13/geisingers-fresh-food-farmacy-receives-healthy-living-award
- 37. Marc Stempka. "Geisinger brings Fresh Food Farmacy to Scranton." *Geisinger Health*. July 11, 2019. https://www.geisinger.org/about-geisinger/news-and-media/news-releases/2019/07/11/19/49/geisinger-brings-fresh-food-farmacy-to-scranton
- 38. Matthew Van Stone. "Geisinger's Fresh Food Farmacy receives Healthy Living Award: Award highlights food as medicine approach to diabetes health." *Geisinger Health*. May 24, 2019.

RESERVICE LEADING TO THE PARTY OF THE PARTY

The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College

The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

https://www.geisinger.org/about-geisinger/news-and-media/news-releases/2019/05/29/19/13/geisingers-fresh-food-farmacy-receives-healthy-living-award

- 39. Marc Stempka. "Geisinger brings Fresh Food Farmacy to Scranton." *Geisinger Health*. July 11, 2019. https://www.geisinger.org/about-geisinger/news-and-media/news-releases/2019/07/11/19/49/geisinger-brings-fresh-food-farmacy-to-scranton
- 40. "Where did we start? *Geisinger Health*. 2020. https://www.geisinger.org/freshfoodfarmacy/our-purpose/where-did-we-start
- 41. "Learn more: Frequently asked questions." *Fresh Food Farmacy*. 2020. https://www.geisinger.org/freshfoodfarmacy/learn-more/faqs
- 42. S.H. Stenmark, J.F. Steiner, S. Marpadga, M. Debor, K. Underhill, and H. Seligman. "Lessons Learned from Implementation of the Food Insecurity Screening and Referral Program at Kaiser Permanente Colorado." *The Permanente Journal*. 2018; 22:18-093. doi:10.7812/TPP/18-093
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. Ibid.
- 45. Ibid.
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid.
- 48. Ibid.
- 49. Ibid.
- 50. Ibid.
- 51. Ibid.
- 52. "Quality & Safety." Mom's Meals. 2020. https://www.momsmeals.com/our-food/quality-safety/
- 53. "Fresh Made Meals to Your Home." *Mom's Meals: Nourish Care*. 2020. http://www.kphealthyme.com/documents/MomsMealsFlyer2018.aspx
- 54. "Self Pay." Mom's Meals. 2020. https://www.momsmeals.com/self-pay/
- 55. "Health Plans." *Mom's Meals*. 2020. https://www.momsmeals.com/health-plans/
- 56. "Diabetes." *Catholic Medical Center*. 2020. https://www.catholicmedicalcenter.org/care-and-treatment/diabetes
- 57. "Diabetes Support Groups." *Catholic Medical Center*. 2020. https://www.catholicmedicalcenter.org/care-and-treatment/diabetes/diabetes-support-groups
- 58. "Center for Diabetes Management." *Elliot Health System: The Elliot Center for Diabetes Management.* 2020. https://www.elliothospital.org/website/center-for-diabetes-management.php
- 59. "Living with Diabetes." *Elliot Health System: The Elliot Center for Diabetes Management*. 2020. https://www.elliothospital.org/website/downloads/DEAR_Brochure.pdf
- 60. "Assessing Manchester's Urban Advantage: Greater Manchester Community Health Needs Assessment." *City of Manchester Health Department*. June 2019. https://www.elliothospital.org/website/downloads/Manchester-Report-Final-compressed.pdf
- 61. "Community Reinvestment Act." FFIEC. December 31, 2019. https://www.ffiec.gov/cra/
- 62. Steven Kuehl. "Exploring the Nexus between the Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) and the Affordable Care Act (ACA)." *Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago: ProfitWise News and Views*, No. 4, 2019.
 - $\underline{https://www.chicagofed.org/publications/profitwise-news-and-views/2019/banks-and-nonprofit-hospitals-partners-in-community-development\#ftn1}$
- 63. Ibid.



The Nelson A. Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College

The Center for Public Policy and the Social Sciences

- 64. Ibid.
- 65. Ibid.
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. Ibid.
- 68. Ibid.
- 69. Ibid.
- 70 -
- 70. Ibid.
- 71. "Community Reinvestment Act (CRA)." *Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System*. 2020. https://www.federalreserve.gov/apps/CRAPubWeb/CRA/BankRatingResult#20191112
- 72. Ibid.
- 73. "Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) Performance Ratings: Manchester, New Hampshire." *FDIC*. November, 21, 2019.
 - https://www7.fdic.gov/CRAPES/Home/SearchDB?CRAState=NH&CRAYearInt=0&CRACityName=Manchester&BankNameCert=0&CRADisplayFieldList=System.Collections.Generic.List%601%5BSystem.String%5D&CRADisplayFieldString=RCert%2CRDate%2CRName%2CRCity%2CRState%2CCRA_Rating_Desc%2CRAsset%2CRPE&CRASortField=BankSortName&CRASortOrder=asc&CRAStatusList=CurrentActive
- 74. "Community Reinvestment Act Performance Evaluation: Citizens Bank of New Hampshire 6214." *FDIC.* December 2, 2002. https://www7.fdic.gov/CRAPES/2002/06214_021104.pdf
- 75. "Community Reinvestment Act (CRA)." *Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System*. 2020. https://www.federalreserve.gov/apps/CRAPubWeb/CRA/BankRatingResult#20191112
- 76. "Who We Are." *The Food Trust*. 2012. http://thefoodtrust.org/about
- 77. "What We Do: With Health Care Partners." *The Food Trust*. 2018. http://thefoodtrust.org/what-we-do/health-care-partners
- 78. Ibid.
- 79. Interview with Karen Shore, June 2, 2020.
- 80. "About Us." *Upstream Strategies*. 2020. https://upstreamstrategiesllc.com/about
- 81. "Who We Are." Wholesome Wave. 2020. https://www.wholesomewave.org/who-we-are/
- 82. "About Us." *New Hampshire Food Bank, a Program of Catholic Charities NH*. 2017. https://www.nhfoodbank.org/about-us/
- 83. "DC Central Kitchen Healthy Corners." DC Central Kitchen. Accessed June 18, 2020. https://dccentralkitchen.org/healthy-corners/.

Appendix A

The research team compiled a list of public health grants, awarded to organizations in Manchester city and across New Hampshire. The team has listed, below, each funding organization, recipient, use of funds, and amount awarded. This information was taken directly from the "Foundation Directory Online by Candid."

Foundation: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

Recipient: The City of Manchester Health Department

Use of funds: "To award the Culture of Health Prize for making great strides in elevating

a community toward better health for all."

Amount: \$25,000 (2016)

<u>Foundation:</u> Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Recipient: New Hampshire Charitable Foundation

<u>Use of funds:</u> "To conduct a series of activities to engage funders in conversations about the importance of and strategies to incorporate a health equity lens into grantmaking for substance use disorders."

Amount: \$176,172 (2019)

Foundation: The Bank of America Charitable Foundation Inc.

Recipient: Catholic Medical Center

Use of funds: "Program operating/support"

Amount: \$5,000 (2018)

Foundation: Annie L. Rowell Intervivos Trust

Recipient: Catholic Medical Center Use of funds: Daily operations Amount: \$384,146 (2019)

Foundation: The Bank of America Charitable Foundation Inc.

Recipient: New Horizons (shelter and soup kitchen)

<u>Use of funds:</u> Program operating/support Amount: \$5,000 (2017); \$3,500 (2018)

Foundation: The Jack and Dorothy Byrne Foundation Inc.

Recipient: New Hampshire Food Bank

Use of funds: N/A

Amount: \$121,000 (2012-2018)

Appendix B

Contact List

We have assembled a list of all those whom we have contacted to complete this project, for your reference.

Name: Beth Wheeler

Organization: Healthy New Hampshire Contact: bwheeler@healthynh.org

Name: Jodie Nazaka

Position: AICP Senior Planner

Organization: Manchester Planning and Community Development Department

Contact: jnazaka@manchesternh.gov

Name: Alicia Trelease (Beachy)

Position: Innovations Program Manager

Organization: Fresh Food Farmacy, Geisinger Health and Wellness

Contact: amtrelease@geisinger.edu

Name: Breanna Grzech

Position: Associate Project Manager

Organization: Fresh Food Farmacy, Geisinger Health and Wellness

Contact: bgrzech1@geisinger.edu

Name: Bridget Palombo
Position: Senior Associate

Organization: Community Food Retail Contact: bpalombo@thefoodtrust.org

Name: Nancy Mellitt

Position: Director of Development

Organization: New Hampshire Food Bank

Contact: nmellitt@nhfoodbank.org